IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-01523-COA

DANIEL BANKS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF YAZOO COUNTY CAUSE NO. 27-0571

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IMHOTEP ALKEBU-LAN Post Office Box. BOX 31107 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39286-1107 601-353-0450 TELEPHONE 601-353-2818 TELECOPIER ialkebulan@aol.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-01523-COA

DANIEL BANKS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DENIED BANK'S THEORY OF THE CASE INSTRUCTION.
- II. IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT NOT TO PERMIT BANKS TO IMPEACH THE COMPLAINING WITNESS WITH EVIDENCE OF BIAS TOWARD BANKS.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED A MISTRIAL AFTER TWO SEPARATE REFERENCES TO BANKS' CRIMINAL HISTORY.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE DECLARED A MISTRIAL AFTER THE PROSECUTOR ARGUED THAT BANKS HAD NO DEFENSE TO THE CHARGE.
- V. THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ERRORS DENIED BANKS A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel Banks was indicted on October 22, 2007 for aggravated assault in violation

of § 97-3-7(2) M.C.A. of 1972 as amended.¹ On March 5, 2008 the State filed a motion to

amend the indictment to charge Banks as a habitual offender in accordance with §99-19-

93 M.C.A. of 1972, as amended.² On March 17, 2007 the trial court entered its Order to

Amend the Indictment.³

Banks's jury trial began on August 11, 2008. A jury was summoned, impaneled and sworn. On August 15, 2008, after a three day trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty.⁴ The trial court determined Banks to be an habitual offender and sentenced him to serve twenty

¹ R.E. 3. In this Brief, R.E. refers to the Record Excerpts Page. The record page is cited as Volume:Page:Line(s).

² R.E. 28.

³ R.E. 30.

⁴ R.E. 56.

(20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, without the possibility of parole.⁵

Banks timely filed his notice of appeal on September 13, 2008.⁶

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 19, 2007 George Palmer was stabbed outside his home in Yazoo City, Yazoo County, Mississippi. Later that day, Daniel Banks was arrested at his home and charged with aggravated assault. After arresting Banks, Yazoo City Police Officer Jason Bright returned to the scene of the stabbing. There he met Adlean Johnson. Johnson told Bright that they arrested the wrong person. Johnson said she stabbed Palmer and threw the knife in the river. As a result of Johnson's statement Bright took her to jail.

Banks' theory of the case was that Johnson stabbed Palmer and threw the knife in the river. Banks' theory of the case jury instruction requested the jury find him not guilty if they find Johnson stabbed Palmer and threw the knife in the river. There was evidential foundation for the requested instruction. The instruction did not mistate state the law. The instruction was not covered elsewhere in the court's instructions to the jury. The instruction was not covered elsewhere. The trial court denied the instruction finding it was a comment on the evidence.

On cross-examination Palmer denied having any bias toward Banks. When Banks attempted to impeach Palmer with evidence of his bias toward Banks the State objected to the evidence as hearsay. The trial court sustained the State's objection.

⁵ R.E. 57.

⁶ R.E. 64.

On two separate occasions, a State's witness and the prosecutor commented on Banks' prior criminal history. On two separate occasions the trial court sustained the objections but denied the motions for mistrial. Banks did not testify in his defense.

During the State's closing summation the prosecutor's argument shifted the burden to Banks to prove his innocense. Again the trial court sustained the objection but denied the motion for mistrial.

The commutative effect of the above errors denied Banks a fair and impartial trial.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Banks' was entitled to a theory of the case jury instruction. His requested instruction met all case law requirements. The trial court's characterization of the request was erroneous necessitating a reversal of Banks' conviction.

Mississippi Rules of Evidence permits evidence of a witness' bias. By permitting Banks to cross-examine Palmer about his bias toward Banks but preventing Banks from impeaching Palmer with the bias defeated Banks' right to show the bias of a witness.

The back-to-back statement of a State's witness and the prosecutor of Banks' prior criminal history was prejudicial and implied Banks acted in conformity therewith. The prosecutor's closing argument shifted the burden to Banks to prove his innocence. The commutative effect of the foregoing errors deprived Banks of a fundamental fair and impartial trial.

3

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DENIED BANK'S THEORY OF THE CASE INSTRUCTION.

A defendant is entitled to have a jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instruction, or is without foundation in the evidence.⁷ Upon appellate review, jury instructions should be read together as a whole when determining whether the court erred in granting or denying the jury instruction in questions.⁸ A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction expressing his theory of the case no matter how meager or unlikely the evidence is in support of the defense theory.⁹

The decisions of state courts mirror the federal rule.¹⁰ A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence.¹¹

Herein, on direct examination, the State's first witness, Adlean Johnson, testified

⁷ Dear v. State, 966 So. 2d 218, 219-20 (¶ 5) Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

⁸ ld. at 220 (¶ 5).

⁹ Manuel v. State, 667 So. 2d 590, 593 (Miss. 1995).

¹⁰ See, e.g., Bolls v. Smith, 594 So. 2d 864, 864 (Fla. Ct. App. 1992) ("Florida case law is well settled that once a trial judge has recused himself, further orders of the recused judge are void and have no effect").

¹¹ Jones v. State, 912 So. 2d 501 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

that on the night George Palmer was stabbed she told the police she stabbed Palmer.¹² Again on cross-examination Johnson admitted she told the officer she stabbed Palmer.¹³ Expounding further, Johnson testified she also told the officer that after stabbing Palmer she took the knife and threw it in the river.¹⁴ Johnson could not refute the assertion she told the officer they arrested the wrong person.¹⁵ Johnson was arrested in part because she said she stabbed Palmer.¹⁶

The State's second witness, Yazoo City Police Officer Jason Bright, confirmed on direct examination Johnson told him she stabbed Palmer.¹⁷ Again on cross-examination Bright testified Johnson told him she stabbed Palmer.¹⁸ Johnson also told Bright she threw the knife in the river.¹⁹

Based on this evidence, Banks submitted his theory of the case instruction.²⁰ Banks theory of the case instruction was not covered elsewhere in the courts instructions to the jury.²¹ There was foundation in the evidence from both Johnson and Bright to support

¹² 1:128:5-10.

- ¹³ 1:139:28-29; 1:140:1.
- ¹⁴ 1:140:10-12.

¹⁵ 1:140:26-29; 1:141:1-27.

¹⁶ 1:144:13-15.

¹⁷ 2:160:23-29; 2:161:1-4.

¹⁸ 2:162:17-21.

¹⁹ 2:162:22-24.

²⁰ R.E. 63.

²¹ R.E. 36-48.

Banks theory of the case instruction. The requested instruction was not a misstatement of the law.

The trial court did not deny Banks' requested theory of the case instruction because there was no foundation in the evidence or because it was covered elsewhere. Nor was the instruction denied because it was a misstatement of the law. The trial court erroneously denied the instruction because it found the instruction was a comment on the evidence.

The requested theory of the case instruction was not a comment on the evidence. It simply required the jury to find Banks not guilty if the jury found Johnson stabbed Palmer then threw the knife in the river and told officers they arrested the wrong man. Banks was entitled to his theory of the case instruction no matter how meager or unlikely of his defense theory. The trial court committed reversible error when it denied the requested instruction. This Court must, in the interest of justice, reverse Banks' conviction and grant him a new trial.

II. IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT NOT TO PERMIT BANKS TO IMPEACH THE COMPLAINING WITNESS WITH EVIDENCE OF BIAS TOWARD BANKS.

The standard of review regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion.²² Furthermore, this Court will affirm the trial court's ruling unless it can safely say that the trial court abused its judicial discretion in allowing or disallowing evidence so as to prejudice a party in a civil case, or the accused in a criminal case.²³

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 616 permits a party to inquire into a witness's bias,

²² Mason v. State, 971 So. 2d 618, 620 (¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

²³ Id. (quoting *Jones v. State*, 918 So. 2d 1220 (Miss. 2005)).

prejudice, or interest in a case for the purpose of attacking a witness's credibility. Moreover, wide latitude is allowed in cross-examination when the chosen form of impeachment is by proof of bias, prejudice, or motive.²⁴

Mississippi evidence rules provides that for the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness, evidence of bias, prejudice, or interest of the witness for or against any party to the case is admissible.²⁵

M.R.E. 616, Bias of Witness, provides

For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness, evidence of bias, prejudice, or interest of the witness for or against any party to the case is admissible.

Herein, on cross-examination, Palmer denied he had any bias or animosity toward Banks.²⁶ Palmer denied disliking Banks because Banks, in his Cadillac, passed him by as he was walking in the rain.

On direct examination, Banks attempted to elicit testimony from his mother, Martha

Banks, of Palmer's bias and dislike for Banks.²⁷ The State's objection to the testimony as

hearsay was sustained by the trial court.28 When the trial court prevented evidence of

Palmer's bias the resulting impermissible impression was that Palmer was telling the truth.

Every witness that takes the stand in a case and testifies puts their character for

²⁷ 2:238:1-6.

²⁸ 2:238:7-29; 2:239:1-2.

²⁴ Fort v. State, 752 So. 2d 458, 462 (¶ 17) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

²⁵ M.R.E., 616, Bias of Witness.

²⁶ 2:197:22-29; 1198:1-25.

truthfulness in issue. By permitting Banks to cross-examine Palmer about his bias toward Banks but preventing Banks from showing the bias defeats Banks right to inquire into the bias of a witness. The trial court abused it discretion in not permitting Banks to show Palmer's bias. This error was not harmless. Banks should be granted a new trial to present evidence of the bias of the complaining witness.

III. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED A MISTRIAL AFTER TWO SEPARATE REFERENCES TO BANKS' CRIMINAL HISTORY.

M.R.E. 404(b), Character Evidence Not Admissible to Prove Conduct; Exceptions;

Other Crimes. Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts, provides in its pertinent part:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith.

The State's first witness, Adelean Johnson, testified Banks has a prior criminal record.²⁹ The testimony was objected to.³⁰ Though the court sustained the objection, the request for a mistrial was denied.³¹

Next, the prosecutor's inflammatory comment that this trial did not involve Banks criminal history was intended to send a message to the jury. That message was to reinforce the fact that Banks has a criminal history and he acted in conformity therewith.³² Though the objection to this comment was also sustained the trial court again denied the

³¹ 1:129:2-9.

³² 1:129:10-13.

²⁹ 1:128:22-28.

³⁰ 1:128:29; 1:129:1.

motion for a mistrial.³³

The trial court should have granted Banks' motion for mistrial. The bact-to-back comments were not only prejudicial they were not harmless. They denied Banks the right to a fair and impartial trial by implying he acted in conformity therewith. As a result, this Court should grant Banks a new trial.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE DECLARED A MISTRIAL AFTER THE PROSECUTOR ARGUED THAT BANKS HAD NO DEFENSE TO THE CHARGE.

The standard of review that appellate courts must apply to lawyer misconduct during opening statements or closing argument is whether the natural and probable effect of the improper argument is to create unjust prejudice against the accused so as to result in a decision influenced by the prejudice so created.³⁴ In deciding the propriety of allegedly improper comments, they are considered in the context of the case.³⁵

Attorneys are afforded wide latitude in arguing their cases to the jury, but they are not allowed to employ tactics which are inflammatory, highly prejudicial, or reasonably calculated to unduly influence the jury.³⁶ Counsel may not state facts which are not in evidence and which the court does not judicially know, in aid of his evidence.³⁷

The State has the burden to prove Banks guilt, Banks has no burden to prove his

³³ 1:129:14-21.

³⁴ Caston v. State, 823 So. 2d 473, 495 (Miss. 2002), (quoting Sheppard v. State, 777 So. 2d 659, 661 (Miss. 2001).

³⁵ Admad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 846 (Miss. 1992).

³⁶ Flowers v. State, 842 So. 2d 531 (¶ 13) (Miss. 2003) (citing Sheppard v. State, 777 So. 2d 659, 661 (Miss. 2001) and Hitler v. State, 660 So. 2d 961, 966 (Miss. 1995).

³⁷ Ball v. State, 725 So. 2d 836, 851 (Miss. 1998).

innocense. In its closing argument the State attempted to shift the burden to Banks to prove his innocense. The prosecutor argued that Banks had no defense to the charge.⁶ This argument was not only inflammatory but highly prejudicial. It highlighted the fact Banks only witness in his behalf was his mother. Banks did not testify in his defense.

Again, though the objection to the argument was sustained, the motion for mistrial was denied. This Court should find the trial court erred in not granting Banks a mistrial. Banks' conviction should be reversed and a new trial granted.

V. THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ERRORS DENIED BANKS A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

Error that do not require reversal themselves may require reversal if, when taken cumulatively, they deny the defendant the right to a fundamentally fair and impartial trial.⁷ In any case in which a court finds harmless error or an error not sufficient in itself to warrant dismissal, the court may, on a case-by-case basis, determine whether the errors taken cumulatively warrant dismissal based on their cumulative prejudicial effect.⁸ This court may reverse a sentence based upon the cumulative effect of errors that, by themselves, do not independently require a reversal.⁹

Each error enumerated above require reversal themselves. The denial of Banks' theory of the case instruction was clearly erroneous. The trial court's finding the instruction was a comment on the evidence was erroneous. The instruction was not, and the court did

⁸ Id. at 846 (¶ 13).

⁶ 2:284:6-17.

⁷ Byron v. State, 863 So. 2d 836, 847 (¶ 12) (Miss. 2003).

⁹ Jenkins v. State, 607 So. 2d 1171, 1183 (Miss. 1992).

not find, the instruction was a misstatement of the law, covered elsewhere in the instruction or that there was no foundation in the evidence. The law permits such an instruction. The instruction was requested and the instruction was warranted. The court denial of the instruction was error and prejudiced Banks.

Mississippi Rules of Evidence permits evidence of a witness' bias. By permitting Banks to question Palmer about his bias but prevent Banks from establishing the bias was prejudicial error. The resulting incorrect impression was that Palmer was telling the truth. It was reversible error for the trial court to deny evidence of Palmer's bias.

The damaging back-to-back references to Banks criminal history were highly prejudicial. A defendant's prior criminal history is admissible under certain circumstances. Neither of those circumstances were present here.

Finally, the prosecutor's closing argument that Banks had no defense to the charge against him impermissibly shifted the burden to Banks to prove his innocense. It also prejudicially highlighted the fact Banks only witness in his behalf was his mother.

CONCLUSION

The commutative effect of the errors denied Banks a fundamental fair and impartial trial. Banks' requested theory of the case instruction met judicial standards. The reason for the denial was a mis-characterization. Mississippi Rules of Evidence permits Banks to present evidence of his accuser's bias. The denial of this evidence unjustly bolstered his accuser's testimony. The prosecutor summation argument impermissibly shifted the burden to Banks to prove his innocense. For the foregoing reasons and authorities, Banks' conviction should be reversed and a new trial ordered.

11