IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DANIEL BANKS

APPELLANT

VS.

ана стана стан

NO. 2008-KA-1523

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

picked up Ms. Johnson and took her to the police department where she was held for investigative detention. (Tr. 160) Bright testified that the detective could not get a statement from her because she was intoxicated and therefore she was held in custody for her own safety and to allow the detective to get a statement when she was not intoxicated. (Tr. 161)

George Palmer testified that on May 19, 2007, he was living at 909 White Street. Adlean Johnson was his girlfriend at that time and was staying with him. (Tr. 167) He testified that he threw Johnson's belongings on that day out after he caught her with Danny. (Tr. 167) Palmer testified that His friends, Kenny and Ouincy Langston were at his house that day and Kenny was cutting Quincy's hair out in the yard. (Tr. 168-9) It was mid-afternoon and Palmer and his friends had just gotten off work. (Tr. 169) Palmer testified that he had known Banks for a couple of weeks. (Tr. 169) Palmer testified that Banks, Johnson and Banks' mother were sitting in Banks' mother's yard. Palmer testified that he want over while they were sitting outside. He testified that he asked to go use the bathroom, but that he really went inside to tell Johnson that he was going back home. He didn't know where the bathroom was and opening the bedroom door and discovered Banks and Johnson in bed. Palmer testified that he closed the door and left. (Tr. 172) Johnson testified that he went home and locked the door. Johnson came over and Palmer testified that he threw her belongings out at that point. Palmer testified that he closed the door and locked it again. Palmer came back outside after Kenny Langston knocked on the door and stood talking to them until they finished cutting hair. Palmer testified that he went to the mailbox and that he hollered to Banks. Banks' girlfriend was sitting next to Danny and Johnson was still over there. Palmer hollered at Banks, "You got some kind of nerve. Just came out the room with my girl, and you called your girl to come over to your house." Palmer went to the

mailbox and about the time he turned about, Banks ran over and asked him, "What you said?" Banks stabbed Palmer with a knife so fast that Palmer did not see the knife. (Tr. 175) Palmer indicated that Banks had stabbed him just below the sternum. (Tr. 176) Palmer ran and feel and Kenny Langston came and helped him to the doorway. Palmer testified that he passed out several times before the ambulance came. He testified that he had not been drinking and that he was unarmed at the time of the stabbing. He testified that Banks was coming after him again after he stabbed him the first time. He testified that he did not know why Banks was unable to stab him a second time. (Tr. 177)

Kenny Langston testified that on May 19, 2007 he and his brother Quincy were at Palmer's house. (Tr. 206) He testified that he was cutting his brother's hair and Palmer was outside talking with them. He testified that Palmer went to the front yard and was calling his girlfriend. Langston testified that he heard Palmer call out, "Adlean, come here. I want to talk to you." (Tr. 207) He called Johnson for about 3 minutes. Langston looked down to cut his brother's hair, and then when he looked up again, he saw a man coming toward Palmer and the man appeared to hit Palmer. Langston identified the man as Danny Banks. (Tr. 208) Palmer then ran and fell. Banks continued to come after Palmer. Langston went to break it up and got half way to Palmer when he saw a bloody knife in Bank's hand. (Tr. 209). Langston looked at Palmer and another man was in front of Banks and held him back. Langston testified that Johnson was not around when Palmer was stabbed. (Tr. 212) Langston testified that as he was approaching Banks to break up the fight, Banks asked him, "Y'all got something to do with this?" Langston replied "No, just get off him. Get back." (Tr. 212) Langston testified that at the time this occurred he had been cutting his brother Quincy's hair. He testified that Quincy was in a position to witness the stabbing. (Tr. 212)

Martha Banks testified on behalf of her son. (Tr. 224)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly refused Defense Instruction as an improper comment on the evidence. The trial court correctly disallowed Banks' mother's testimony regarding an alleged out-of-court statement by Palmer on the grounds that it was impermissible hearsay. Further, the testimony was on a collateral issue and was impermissible for that reason as well. The trial court correctly denied Banks' motions for mistrial after testimony that Banks "had a prior record." The trial court has the discretion to determine whether or not a statement is so prejudicial that it requires a mistrial and the trial court did not abuse it's considerable discretion in denying Banks' motions for mistrial. The trial court correctly denied Banks' motion for mistrial on the basis of the Prosecutor's closing argument. Banks received a fundamentally fair and impartial trial and as no errors occurred at trial, there can be no application of "cumulative error".

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly refused Defense Instruction as an improper comment on the evidence.

Regarding jury instructions, the trial court possesses considerable discretion. *Bickham v. Grant*, 861 So.2d 299, 301 (Miss.2003) citing *Southland Enters. v. Newton County*, 838 So.2d 286, 289 (Miss.2003) (citing *Splain v. Hines*, 609 So.2d 1234, 1239 (Miss.1992)). A party is entitled to a jury instruction if it concerns a genuine issue of material fact and there is credible evidence to support the instruction. *Mariner Health Care, Inc. v. Estate of Edwards*, 964 So.2d 1138, 1156 (Miss.2007) (citing *DeLaughter v. Lawrence County Hosp.*, 601 So.2d 818, 824 (Miss.1992)). While a party is entitled to jury instructions that present his theory of the case, this entitlement is limited; the trial court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. *Ford v. State*, 975 So.2d 859, 863 (Miss.2008) (citing *Howell v. State*, 860 So.2d 704, 745 (Miss.2003)). "On the other hand, it would be error to grant an instruction which is likely to mislead or confuse the jury as to the principles of the law applicable to the facts in evidence." *Southland Enters.*, 838 So.2d at 289 (citing *McCary v. Caperton*, 601 So.2d 866, 869 (Miss.1992)).

On appellate review of the trial court's grant or denial of a proposed jury instruction, our primary concern is that "the jury was fairly instructed and that each party's proof-grounded theory of the case was placed before it." Splain, 609 So.2d at 1239 (citing Rester v. Lott, 566 So.2d 1266, 1269 (Miss.1990)). Appellate courts ask whether the instruction at issue contained a correct statement of law and was warranted by the evidence. Beverly Enters. v. Reed, 961 So.2d 40, 43-44 (Miss.2007) (citing Hill v. Dunaway, 487 So.2d 807, 809 (Miss.1986)). Mississippi appellate courts will reverse based on the denial of an instruction upon a showing that the granted instructions, taken as a whole, do not fairly present the applicable law. Mariner Health Care, 964 So.2d at 1156 (citing Whitten v. Cox, 799 So.2d 1, 16 (Miss.2000)). Thus, "[i]f other instructions granted adequately instruct the jury, a party may not complain of a refused instruction on appeal." Southland Enters., 838 So.2d at 289 (citing Purina Mills, Inc. v. Moak, 575 So.2d 993, 996 (Miss. 1990)). In analyzing the aggregate jury instructions, "[d]efects in specific instructions will not mandate reversal when all of the instructions, taken as a whole fairly-although not perfectly-announce the applicable primary rules of law." Beverly Enters., 961 So.2d at 43 (citing Burton v. Barnett, 615 So.2d 580, 583 (Miss.1993)).

Further, "[i]t is also well established that instructions to the jury should not single out or contain comments on specific evidence." *Crimm v. State*, 888 So.2d 1178, 1186 (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (quoting *Lester v. State*, 744 So.2d 757, 759 (Miss.1999)).

The instruction proposed by Banks as his "theory of the case" instruction read as follows:

Daniel Banks's theory of the case is that Adlean Johnson stabbed George Palmer with a knife and then threw the knife in the river and told officer [sic] they arrested the wrong man and if you so find you must find Daniel Banks not guilty.

(C.P. 49)

This is clearly a comment on the evidence. Banks submits that this theory is not covered elsewhere in the evidence. However, the instructions given instruct the jurors that they are to determine how much of each witness's testimony they believe and how much weight they will give that testimony. (C.P. 36) Further, they were instructed as to the elements of the crime, and that they must find beyond a reasonable doubt that Danny Banks committed the crime. (C.P. 38) They were further instructed, "If the prosecution has failed to prove any one or more of the listed elements beyond a reasonable doubt, then you shall find the defendant, Danny Banks, not guilty of aggravated assault as charged in the indictment." (C.P. 38) This is Danny Banks' theory of the case. Worded simply, Banks' theory is, "someone else did it." Instruction S-1 instructs the jury that they should reach a verdict of guilty if and only if, DANNY BANKS is shown to have committed aggravated assault on George Palmer beyond a reasonable doubt. This instruction clearly sets out that Banks' identity as the person who stabbed Palmer is essential to a conviction. Therefore, his theory of the case is addressed in the instructions as presented to the jury, since by instruction S-1, the jury was instructed that if they believed that someone else stabbed George

Palmer, they must find Banks "not guilty." Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a jury instruction that inappropriately commented on the evidence. This issue is without merit.

II. The trial court correctly disallowed testimony of Martha Banks on the grounds that it was impermissible hearsay.

Banks argues the he should have been allowed to elicit hearsay testimony from Martha Banks in order to impeach Palmer's testimony that he was not angry with Banks for passing him by in a Cadillac when Banks was caught in the rain. This testimony was correctly excluded by the trial court. While the testimony Banks sought to include might theoretically be admissible pursuant to M.R.E. 616, it is clearly inadmissible pursuant to M.R.E. 801, the rule against hearsay. Pursuant to M.R.E. 801 (d)(1), a prior statement by a witness is not hearsay if:

> [t]he declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross examination concerning the statement, and the statement is (A) inconsistent with his testimony, and was given under oath subject to the penalty of perjury at a trial, hearing or other proceeding, or in a deposition, or (B) consistent with his testimony and is offered to rebut an express of implied charge against him of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive, or (C) one of identification of a person made after perceiving him . . ."

Further, there is no exception to the rule against hearsay under which the defendant can travel regarding the admissibility of this evidence. The trial court correctly excluded this testimony as a violation of the rule against hearsay.

Banks cites *Mason v. State*, 971 So.2d 618 (Miss.Ct.App.2007) as authority for the proposition that this hearsay testimony by Bank's mother should have been allowed and that the trial court abused it's discretion in excluding the testimony. However, *Mason* turns on relevance

as factor in determining whether evidence offered for impeachment is admissible. *Id.* at 621. The Court of Appeals noted that a collateral matter is a matter that is not directly relevant to the case at hand. *Id.* The testimony of C.G. was inadmissible because it would not rebut the charge in the indictment. The testimony in the instant case is not only hearsay testimony, but as in *Mason*, it is collateral. As such, this testimony was properly excluded by the trial court.

.

In *Williams v. State*, 73 Miss. 820, 19 So. 826 affirmed 120 U.S. 213, 18 S.Ct. 583, 42 L.Ed. 1012 (1896), an eyewitness to the shooting which was the subject of the case testified for the defendant. On cross-examination, she was asked by the State whether or not she said at the scene of the shooting that "they made up a plot to kill him three weeks ago." She denied making the statement, and the State called in a rebuttal witness who testified that she did make such statement at the scene. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the conviction holding that it was error to allow the witness to testify to the alleged contradictory statement made out of court. The Supreme Court noted that the testimony was, in effect, hearsay. The Court further held that whether or not the witness made the statement was irrelevant and a collateral matter and that therefore she could not be contradicted as to her statement. *Williams*, 73 Miss. At 829-30, 19 So. at 829. Mississippi Courts have consistently followed the rule in *Williams*. *Carlisle v. State*, 348 So.2d 765 (Miss. 1977).

Based on the forgoing authority, the trial court correctly excluded the testimony in question as hearsay. The testimony was further inadmissible as a collateral matter. This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

III. The trial court correctly denied Banks' Motions for Mistrial after testimony that Banks "had a prior record."

Banks argues that the circuit court erred in denying his motions for a mistrial. Those motion arose from a question asked by the prosecution of a witness in the following colloquy:

- Q: Okay. Now did you make any statements about who stabbed George Palmer when those police were there?
- A: Yes, I did.

,

- Q. And what did you say?
- A. I said I did it.
- Q. Did you?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Okay. Could you tell this jury if you have ever stabbed George Palmer?
- A. Me?
- Q. Yes.
- A. No, I haven't.
- Q. Well, what we want to know, why did you say that? At first, were you intoxicated when you were saying that?
- A. Just about it.
- Q. Why were you trying, why were you telling the police officers that?
- Because, I was, one thing, mad with George for throwing my stuff out in the yard. And I really didn't want Danny to get, I knew he had a prior record, and I didn't want him to

get in deeper trouble.

Mr. Alkebu-Lan:	Objection, Your Honor.	
The Court:	Objection sustained.	
Mr. Waldrup:	I move to strike that, Your Honor.	
Mr. Alkebu-Lan:	We move for a mistrial, Your Honor.	
The Court:	Denied	
Q. (Mr. Waldrup) That's not important. This is a totally different case.		
Okay? So we're not worried about any – we're just worried about what		
happened that night. Okay?		
Mr. Alkebu-Lan:	I am going to object, Your Honor, to the comments made	
	by the prosecutor.	
The Court:	Sustained. Ask the jury to disregard.	

Mr. Alkebu-Lan: Again, Your Honor, we move for a mistrial.

The Court: Denied.

(Tr. 128-129)

,

In all cases, "[t]he judge is provided considerable discretion to determine whether the remark is so prejudicial that a mistrial should be declared." *Carpenter v. State*, 910 So.2d 528, 534 (Miss.2005) (quoting Roundtree v. State, 568 So.2d 1173, 1177 (Miss.1990)). Furthermore, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, there is a presumption that the jury followed all of the trial court's instructions in reaching its verdict. *Reid v. State*, 266 So.2d 21, 28 (Miss.1972).

In this case, the prosecutor asked an appropriate question, but received an answer from

the witness which referenced the defendant's prior criminal record without any specificity as to the content of that record. The circuit judge sustained defense counsel's objection and the *prosecutor* asked that the inappropriate response be stricken from the record. The trial court then instructed the jury to disregard. Defense counsel made a motion for mistrial and the trial court correctly denied the motion. Immediately following that exchange, and clearly in an attempt to confine the witness to the case at hand, the prosecutor inadvertently and obliquely referenced a previous case and asked the witness to attend specifically to the case at hand. Again, defense counsel objected and the trial court instructed the jury to disregard. Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial once again, and the trial court correctly denied the motion.

The initial testimony by Johnson was offered by her to show her reasoning for giving a false statement immediately after the stabbing and was not presented to suggest propensity on the part of the defendant. The prosecutor's diligence in requesting that offending testimony be stricken from the record was a clear communication to the jury that it was not applicable to the case and should not be considered. The comments by the prosecutor to the witness to asking her to restrict her testimony to the case at hand were clearly not intended to prejudice the defendant and did not create a suggestion of propensity. Therefore, trial judge correctly denied defense counsel's motions for mistrial.

The circuit court correctly instructed the jury to disregard the content of the improper references. There is no evidence to indicate that the jurors failed to heed the circuit judge's instruction. Further, it was well within the court's discretion to determine that the remarks were not so prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial. Therefore, the circuit judge did not abuse her discretion in denying Banks' motions for mistrial. Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

IV. The trial court correctly denied Banks' Motion for Mistrial on the basis of the Prosecutor's closing argument.

Parker argues that the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial. In all cases, "[t]he judge is provided considerable discretion to determine whether the remark is so prejudicial that a mistrial should be declared." *Carpenter v. State*, 910 So.2d 528, 534(¶ 23) (Miss.2005) (quoting *Roundtree v. State*, 568 So.2d 1173, 1177 (Miss.1990)). Furthermore, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, there is a presumption that the jury followed all of the trial court's instructions in reaching its verdict. *Reid v. State*, 266 So.2d 21, 28 (Miss.1972).

In closing, the prosecutor made the following argument:

I got up this morning to put a suit on. I've got two suits. Both pin-striped – one double-breasted and one single breasted. I couldn't remember if I had worn it previously. I couldn't remember if I had worn it earlier this week. I didn't know. I asked my wife, "What did I have on, Baby?" Hey, that's life. But he wants to demonize her because she had a drinking problem. But that's – use your common sense. They don't have a defense in this.

(Tr. 284)

Defense counsel objected, stating, "Your Honor, I'm going to object to the argument that we don't have a defense. We have no burden. We don't have to have a defense. The circuit judge sustained the objection and took the appropriate remedial step and asked the jury to disregard the comment. There is no evidence to indicate that the jurors failed to heed the circuit judge's instruction. The circuit judge did not abuse her discretion in denying Bank's motion for a mistrial. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that trial judge is in the best a position to determine if an alleged objectionable remark has a prejudicial effect. *Roundtree v. State*, 568 So.2d 1173, 1177 (Miss.1990). "The judge is provided considerable discretion to determine whether the remark is so prejudicial that a mistrial should be declared." *Id.* at 1778. If serious and irreparable damage has not occurred, then the trial judge should direct the jury to disregard the remark. *Id.* at 1778. Applying the law to the facts in the case *sub judice*, the trial judge did not abuse her discretion by denying Banks' request for a mistrial. The trial judge sustained the objection to the closing comments in open court and directed the jury to disregard the remarks, thus curing any harm to Banks. The trial judge was well within her discretion to deny the request for a mistrial. Accordingly, this issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be upheld.

V. Banks got a fundamentally fair and impartial trial.

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